A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. RCW9.94A.535(3)(h), as applied to Mr. Purser, is

unconstitutionally vague and violates the Fourteenth Amendment'sDue

Process Clause.

2. The trial court violated Mr. Purser's fundamental right to

parent in imposing a lifetime no- contact order barring contact with his

son, D.P., Jr.

3. The imposition of convictions for felony harassment and

intimidating a witness both as a result of the same act violated double

jeopardy.

4. The trial court violated Mr. Purser's right to a unanimous

verdict on felony harassment when it failed to instruct the jury on

unanimity.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A penal statute which fails to set forth objective guidelines to

guard against arbitrary application is vague and violates the Fourteenth

Amendment's Due Process Clause. RCW9.94A.535(3)(a) and (h)(iii),

setting forth the aggravating factors of deliberate cruelty, do not

provide any standards to govern the determination of what degree of

violence is normally associated with a given offense. By leaving it to
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the jury in Mr. Purser's case to define this element, was Mr. Purser

deprived of due process?

2. The trial court's power at sentencing is statutory. By statute,

the court may impose "crime- related" prohibitions as a condition of the

sentence. Sentencing prohibitions that inhibit or infringe on a

fundamental constitutional right, such as the right to parent, may be

imposed but only where the prohibition is reasonably necessary to

accomplish the essential needs of the State and public order. Less

restrictive alternatives must be considered. Here, the trial court

imposed a lifetime prohibition on contact between Mr. Purser and his

son, D.P., without making any finding the prohibition was reasonably

necessary and without considering less restrictive alternatives. In light

of the trial court's failures, is this Court required to strike the

prohibition as impermissibly infringing on Mr. Purser's fundamental

constitutional right?

3. A defendant has the constitutional right to be free from being

placed twice in jeopardy. Multiple punishments for the same act where

the Legislature has not authorized such multiple punishment violates

double jeopardy. Imposition of multiple convictions that rely upon the

same evidence violates double jeopardy. Where Mr. Purser's threat to
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kill provided the only evidence supporting the offense of felony

harassment (Count II) and the offense of intimidating a witness (Count

III), did the trial court violate double jeopardy when it entered

convictions for both offenses?

4. A defendant has a constitutionally protected right to a

unanimous jury. In order to insure jury unanimity where the State

alleges several acts, each of which may constitute the charged offense,

the prosecutor must either elect the act upon which it relied, or the

court must instruct on jury unanimity. Here, the State proved several

threats to kill, each of which could have constituted a count of felony

harassment, but the prosecutor did not elect which act constituted the

act upon which he relied, nor did the court instruct on jury unanimity.

Was Mr. Purser's right to jury unanimity violated requiring reversal of

his felony harassment conviction?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jennifer Purser and appellant, Dale Purser, were married on

February 20, 2009. 8/29/2012RP 31. At the time they were married,

Ms. Purser had a son from a previous relationship, who was born in

2005. 8/29/2012RP 31. Ms. Purser and Mr. Purser had a son, D.P.

who was born in 2010. 8/29/2012RP 31. Ms. Purser described Mr.
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Purser as initially calm and shy, who in her terms, turned violent and

controlling with mood swings. 8/29/2012RP 31. Ms. Purser claimed

several months of domestic violence, culminating in two instances

where he assaulted her. 8/29/2012RP 32 -38.

On September 22, 2011, following another argument between

the two, Ms. Purser left the house and stayed with a friend.

8/29/2012RP 46. When she returned, Ms. Purser demanded Mr. Purser

leave the house. 8/29/2012RP 46. Mr. Purser refused and demanded

Ms. Purser leave the house. 8/29/2012RP 46. Instead, Ms. Purser

claimed she slept in the couple's car. 8/29/2012RP 47.

In the morning, Ms. Purser came into the house to get her oldest

son ready for school. 8/29/2012RP 48. According to Ms. Purser, Mr.

Purser attacked her, hitting her repeatedly. 8/29/2012RP 49. Ms.

Purser claimed Mr. Purser repeatedly threatened to kill her while

assaulting her. 8/29/2012RP 49 -54. When she went to leave, Mr.

Purser allegedly told Ms. Purser that if she called the police he would

kill her and her family. 8/29/2012RP 54 -55, 59.

The State charged Mr. Purser with one count of assault in the

first degree, one count of assault in the second degree, two counts of

intimidation of a witness, and one count of felony harassment. CP 93-
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96. Each of the counts contained a sentence enhancement allegation

for committing aggravated domestic violence. CP 93 -96.

The court's to- convict instruction for felony harassment stated:

To- convict the Defendant of the crime of

HARASSMENT as charged in count II, each of the
following elements of the crime must be proved beyond
a reasonable doubt:

1) That on or about the 23r day of September 2011, the
Defendant knowingly threatened to kill J.P. immediately
or in the future;
2) That words or conduct of the Defendant placed J.P. in
reasonable fear that the threat to kill would be carried

out;

3) That the Defendant acted without lawful authority;
and

4) That the threat was made or received in the State of
Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements
has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will
be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence,
you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these
elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of
not guilty.

CP 62.

During closing argument, the prosecutor did not elect the threat

to kill the State was relying on for Count II, instead relying on all of

them:



Jennifer Purser testified that while the defendant was

beating her he told her he was going to kill her. He told
her to say goodbye to her children because he was going
to kill her. The repeated threats that had been made over
the course of the past couple of years placed her in
reasonable fear that he would be capable of carrying it
out.

8/30/2012RP 49.

Following a jury trial, Mr. Purser was convicted as charged. CP

27 -32.

At sentencing, the court found the harassment, first degree

assault, and one count of intimidation of a witness constituted the same

criminal conduct, and the second degree assault count and the

remaining intimidation count also constitute the same criminal conduct.

CP 9. The court imposed exceptional sentences on the remaining

counts. CP 10 -11. Finally, the court imposed a lifetime no- contact

order between Mr. Purser and his son, D.P. CP 16.

G



D. ARGUMENT

1. THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR IN RCW

9.94A.535(3)(h)(iii) IS IMPERMISSIBILY
VAGUE.

a. The vagueness doctrine of the Fourteenth

Amendment'sDue Process Clause applies to aggravating factors In

Apprendi v. New Jersey, the Court recognized that sentencing

enhancements which increase the maximum sentence to which a person

is exposed trigger the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause

because those enhancements affect the person's liberty interest in being

free of confinement. 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435

2000). Thus, Apprendi held the Fourteenth Amendment'sDue

Process Clause required proof beyond a reasonable doubt of those

enhancements. Additionally, the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial

incorporated by the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause

required those facts be proved to a jury. In Blakely v. Washington, the

Court expressly applied that holding to aggravating factors in the

Sentencing Reform Act (SRA). 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159

L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). Because aggravating factors trigger the protection

of the Fourteenth Amendment'sDue Process Clause, those factors are
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subject to challenge under the vagueness doctrine of the Due Process

Clause.

The vagueness doctrine of the Due Process Clause rests on two

principles. First, penal statutes must provide citizens with fair notice of

what conduct is proscribed. Second, laws must provide ascertainable

standards of guilt so as to protect against arbitrary and subjective

enforcement. Grayned v. City ofRockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108, 92 S.Ct.

2294, 33 L.Ed.2d 222 (1972). "A vague law impermissibly delegates

basic policy matters to policemen, judges, and juries for resolution on

an ad hoc and subjective basis, with the attendant dangers of arbitrary

and discriminatory application." Id. at 108 -09. A statute fails to

adequately guard against arbitrary enforcement where it lacks

ascertainable or legally fixed standards of application or invites

unfettered latitude" in its application. Smith v. Goguen, 415 U.S. 566,

578, 94 S.Ct. 1242, 15 L.Ed.2d 447 (1973); Giacco v. Pennsylvania,

382 U.S. 399, 402 -03, 86 S.Ct. 518, 15 L.Ed.2d 447 (1966). The

vagueness doctrine is most concerned with ensuring the existence of

guidelines to govern enforcement. Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352,

358, 75 L.Ed.2d 903, 103 S.Ct. 1855 (1983); O'Day v. King County,

109 Wn.2d 796, 810, 749 P.2d 142 (1988).



Prior to Blakely, in State v. Baldwin, the Washington Supreme

Court overturned its prior decision in State v. Rhodes, 92 Wn.2d 755,

600 P.2d 1264 (1979), and concluded that aggravating factors were not

subject to a vagueness challenge. 150 Wn.2d 448, 78 P.3d 1005

2003). Baldwin offered several justifications for its conclusion. First,

Baldwin held "the void for vagueness doctrine should have application

only to laws that p̀roscribe or prescribe conduct "' and ... it was "

analytically unsound' to apply the doctrine to laws that merely provide

directives that judges should consider when imposing sentences." 150

Wn.2d at 459, quoting State v. Jacobsen, 92 Wn. App. 958, 966, 965

P.2d 1140, review denied, 137 Wn.2d 1033 (1999) (internal quotation

omitted). Baldwin concluded that because sentencing guidelines "do

not define conduct ... nor do they vary the statutory maximum and

minimum penalties assigned to illegal conduct by the legislature[,]" the

void - for - vagueness doctrine "[has] no application in the context of

sentencing guidelines." Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 459. Second, Baldwin

concluded there was no liberty interest at stake in the determination of

an aggravating factor, stating "before a state law can create a liberty

interest, it must contain "s̀ubstantive predicates "' to the exercise of

discretion and "s̀pecific directives to the decision maker that if the
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regulations' substantive predicates are present, a particular outcome

must follow."' Baldwin, 150 Wn.2d at 460, quoting In re Personal

Restraint of Cashaw, 123 Wn.2d 138, 144, 866 P.2d 8 (1994). It is

clear that each of these conclusions is incorrect in light ofApprendi and

Blakely.

First, Baldwin's conclusion that aggravating factors "do not ...

vary the statutory maximum and minimum penalties" is indisputably

incorrect following Blakely. There the Court held aggravating factors

do alter the statutory maximum of the offense. Blalcely, 542 U.S. at

306 -07. Moreover, aggravating factors no longer "merely provide

directives that judges should consider when imposing sentences." The

vast majority of aggravating factors may no longer be considered by a

sentencing court at all, unless they are first found by the jury beyond a

reasonable doubt. RCW9.94A.537. Thus, unlike the pre-Blakely

scheme, the aggravating factors are not matters that merely direct

judicial discretion at all.

Further, the conclusion that aggravating factors do not impact a

liberty interest is also contrary to the conclusions reached in Apprendi

and Blakely. Those cases concluded the Due Process Clause does

apply to aggravating factors. First, it is by virtue of the Fourteenth

10



Amendment Due Process Clause that the Sixth Amendment is

incorporated against the states. Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145,

156, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d491(1968). In determining whether to

incorporate a specific right within the Due Process Clause the Court

asked the following:

whether a right is among those fundamental principles of
liberty and justice which lie at the base of all our civil
and political institutions, whether it is basic in our
system ofjurisprudence, and whether it is a fundamental
right, essential to a fair trial.

Id. 148 -49 (Internal citations and quotations omitted). The Court

reasoned the right a jury trial "in the Federal and State Constitutions

reflect a fundamental decision about the exercise of official power -a

reluctance to entrust plenary powers over the life and liberty of the

citizen to one judge or to a group ofjudges." Id. 156. Thus, the Sixth

Amendment right to a jury applies to state court proceedings as a

component of the Due Process Clause because of the liberty interest at

stake. And, because it applies equally to aggravating factors, the same

liberty interests must necessarily be at stake.

Second, in Apprendi, the Court said:

a]s we made clear in [In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 90
S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970)], the "reasonable
doubt" requirement "has [a] vital role in our criminal
procedure for cogent reasons." 397 U.S., at 363, 90
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S.Ct. 1068. Prosecution subjects the criminal defendant
both to "the possibility that he may lose his liberty upon
conviction and ... the certainty that he would be
stigmatized by the conviction." Id. We thus require
this, among other, procedural protections in order to
provid[e] concrete substance for the presumption of
innocence," and to reduce the risk of imposing such
deprivations erroneously. Id.

Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 484. Thus, Apprendi, specifically applied to

Washington's SRA by Blakely, applied the Due Process Clause's

protections to sentence enhancements because of the loss of liberty

associated with the finding. Apprendi also noted "we have made clear

beyond peradventure that Winship's due process and associated jury

protections extend, to some degree, to determinations that [go] not to a

defendant's guilt or innocence, but simply to the length of his

sentence." Id. (Brackets in original, internal quotations omitted.)

Thus, liberty interests arise from facts which establish the length of the

sentence.

Apprendi and Blakely clearly establish that aggravating factors

affect a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause. Indeed, as

Apprendi expressly noted, aggravating factors impact the most basic of

liberty interests - the right to be free of confinement. And it is because

they affect the most basic liberty interest that enhancements and

aggravating factors, just as traditional elements, must be proved beyond
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a reasonable doubt. With the recognition that this most basic liberty

interest is implicated any time a statute permits an increase in the

prescribed range of punishment based upon a jury finding, the second

of Baldwin's underpinnings is lost.

In reaching its conclusion that no liberty interest was affected,

Baldwin relied principally on Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct.

2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978). Lockett merely held that, in death

penalty cases, a legislature could not restrict juries' ability to consider

the full array ofpotential mitigating evidence in determining whether to

return a verdict to impose the death penalty. The Court found such

restrictions in the Ohio statue violated both the Eighth and Fourteenth

Amendments, 438 U.S. at 605. Lockett recognized that in noncapital

cases "legislatures remain free to decide how much discretion in

sentencing should be reposed in the judge or jury in noncapital cases."

Id. at 603 -04. But Lockett says nothing about whether an individual

has a liberty interest in guidelines, indeed it never mentions the term

guidelines." And even if it did, because the issue in that case was

whether the legislature could restrict juries' consideration of mitigation

in a capital case, any discussion of liberty interest in a standard range is

dicta and not the holding of the Court. In fact the Court said:
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We emphasize that in dealing with standards for
imposition of the death sentence we intimate no view
regarding the authority of a State or of the Congress to
fix mandatory, minimum sentences for noncapital
crimes.

438 U.S. at 605, n.13(Emphasis added). Thus, Lockett did not dictate

the outcome ofBaldwin nor was it even relevant.

And while Lockett offered the general recognition that

legislatures may establish the amount of discretion afforded sentencing

judges, the SRA has largely eliminated judicial discretion at sentencing.

And, with the elimination of discretion, the SRA has specifically

removed a judge's ability to find aggravating factors. RCW9.94A.537.

This was done in recognition that the Due Process Clause requires more

of that finding. That jury finding leads to a specific result: an increase

in the prescribed range ofpunishment.

Further, the relevant question is not whether a person has a right

to be sentenced to the standard range. Instead, a court must ask

whether his maximum sentence may be increased beyond that range

without the protections of the Due Process Clause. Apprendi and

Blakely have recognized that a defendant plainly does have the right,

his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and Fourteenth Amendment

right to due process, to be sentenced below the maximum sentence but
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for the jury's finding of an aggravating fact. Because it is that jury

finding which triggers the increase in punishment, that finding is

subject to the vagueness doctrine.

Following Apprendi and Blakely, it is clear that the Due Process

Clause applies to the determination of whether an aggravating factor

exists. The vagueness doctrine of the Due Process Clause must also

apply.

b. The aggravating factor at issue in this case is

impermissibly vague as applied to Mr. Purser In this case, the jury had

no objective standard by which to measure what inheres in the crime or

is normally associated with it. Here, RCW9.94A.535(h)(iii) requires

that the "current offense involved domestic violence, ... and one or more

of the following was present: (i) The offense was part of an ongoing

pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse of a victim or multiple

victims manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time;

ii) The offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim's or the

offender's minor children under the age of eighteen years; or (iii) The

offender's conduct during the commission of the current offense

manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim."
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Unlike a judge, who may have years of experience with similar

cases, jurors called to sit on a single case lack any framework by which

to assess the normalcy of a given set of facts. And even assuming an

individual juror possessed such a framework, it is inherently subjective,

as it exists as a product of a single juror's experience. That inherent

subjectiveness renders these aggravators impermissibly vague.

Importantly, Mr. Purser does not contend that the statute is

vague because a different jury might reach a different result. Instead,

he contends the doctrine is violated because there is no assurance that a

subsequent jury would even apply the same standard regarding what

inheres in or is normally associated with the crime. Because RCW

RCW9.94A.535(3)(h) does not guard against this arbitrary and

inherently subjective application, and in fact requires it, it is void for

vagueness. Mr. Purser's sentence, which is predicated on this

unconstitutionally vague aggravator, must be reversed for imposition of

a standard range sentence.
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2. THE IMPOSITION OF THE NO- CONTACT

ORDER WITH D.P. VIOLATED MR.

PURSER'S FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO

PARENT

The Sentencing Reform Act of 1981, chapter 9.94A RCW,

authorizes the trial court to impose "crime- related prohibitions" as a

condition of a sentence. RCW9.94A.505(8). A "crime- related

prohibition" prohibits "conduct that directly relates to the

circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted."

RCW9.94A.030(10). "[B]ecause the imposition of crime - related

prohibitions is necessarily fact - specific and based upon the sentencing

judge's in- person appraisal of the trial and the offender, the appropriate

standard of review [is] abuse of discretion." In re Personal Restraint of

Rainey, 168 Wn.2d 367, 374 -75, 229 P.3d 686 (2010).

If the sentencing condition infringes a constitutional right (such

as the right to the care, custody, and companionship of one's children),

that condition can only be upheld if the condition is reasonably

necessary to accomplish the essential needs of the State and public

order. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cent.

denied, 129 S.Ct. 2007 (2009) ( "More careful review of sentencing

conditions is required where those conditions interfere with a

fundamental constitutional right. ").
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The right to the care, custody, and companionship of one's

children constitutes such a fundamental constitutional right. Rainey,

168 Wn.2d at 374. Thus, sentencing conditions burdening this right

must be s̀ensitively imposed' so that they are r̀easonably necessary

to accomplish the essential needs of the State and public order."'

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