FILED

March 28, 2014

Court of Appeals

Division I

State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

NO. 44119-5-II ALLAM COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
NO. 11-1-00336-1

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent / Cross Appellant

VS.

DALE PURSER,

Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CROSS APPELLANT

Lewis M. Schrawyer, WSBA # 12202 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Clallam County Courthouse 223 East Fourth Street, Suite 11 Port Angeles, WA 98362-3015 (360) 417-2297 or 417-2296 lschrawyer@co.clallam.wa.us Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE

When a jury is instructed that it must first find that the defendant committed a crime, and then find whether the crime occurred in a domestic situation, and then find one of three plain language aggravators that are further defined with common language definitions, is a challenge to the aggravators

as "void for vagueness" viable?

RESPONSE

- I. Standard of Review: Issues of statutory construction and constitutionality are questions of law subject to *de novo* review. State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 531, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004).
- II. Analysis: A statute is void for vagueness if it "fails to define the offense with sufficient precision that a person of ordinary intelligence can understand it, or it does not provide arbitrary sufficiently prevent standards specific to enforcement." State v. Eckblad, 152 Wn.2d 515, 518, 98 P.3d 1184 (2004), citing to City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 178, 795 P.2d 693 (1990). The test for vagueness is whether a person of reasonable understanding is required to guess at the meaning of the statute. State v. Branch, 129 Wn.2d 635, 648, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996). "We consider whether a statute is vague as applied to the particular facts at issue, for '[a] plaintiff who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as

applied to the conduct of others.' "Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project, ____ U.S.___, 130 S.Ct. 2705, 2719, 177 L.Ed.2d 355 (2010) (quoting Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 495, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982).

State v. Duncan, ___ Wn.2d ___, 300 P.3d 352 (2013), addressed this same vagueness analysis. The Court first analyzed whether the jury was instructed that "substantial bodily injury" was sufficiently different from proof that the "victim's injuries substantially exceed the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense." Duncan, id. at 354. Citing to State v. Pappas, 176 Wn.2d 188, 193, 289 P.3d 634 (2012), the Court held that the jury was properly instructed that it must find the victim's injuries substantially exceeded the level of bodily harm necessary to meet the elements of the crime. In other words, the level of injury substantially exceeded the assault charge's element of substantial bodily

injury. Thus, Blakely was satisfied.

The jury in this case was instructed that the victim and Mr. Purser were household members and therefore domestic violence may have occurred (Inst. 33, CP 132). If the jury found Mr. Purser guilty of any of the charges or the lesser included charge, it must determine "[w]hether the crime is an aggravated domestic violence offense." (Inst. 32, CP 122). The jury was then instructed that "aggravated domestic violence offense" could be found if "the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time." The instruction further defined "ongoing pattern of abuse" to mean "multiple incidents of abuse." The term "prolonged period of time" was defined for the jury as "more than a few weeks." (Inst. 33, CP 123).

Or, the jury could find aggravated domestic violence occurred because "the offense was committed within the sight

¹ Blakely v. Washington, 542, U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed. 403 (2004), citing to Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed. 435 (2000)).

or sound of the victim's and/or Defendant's children who were under the age of 18 years." (Inst. 33, CP 123).

Or, the jury could find aggravated domestic violence occurred because "the Defendant's conduct during the commission of the offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim." (Inst. 33, CP 123). "Deliberate cruelty" was defined in Instruction 35, CP 125.

Mr. Purser argues these terms are vague because "there is no assurance that a subsequent jury would even apply the same standard regarding what inheres in or is normally associated with the crime." Appellant's brief, page 16. Holder v. Humanitarian Law Project, supra, makes it clear the test for vagueness is not whether the terms are sufficiently clear to apply in subsequent cases, but whether the aggravators are sufficiently clear in the present case.

If Mr. Purser is still arguing the aggravators are vague as applied here, he is not correct. First, unlike *Duncan* and *Pappas*, these aggravators are not an extension of the

underlying offense. Because they are not an extension of the underlying crimes, there is no chance the jury can confuse the the crime's elements and the aggravators' elements. Second, there is nothing vague about these terms. The first aggravator states clearly that the jury must find multiple incidents of abuse over a prolonged period of time. It does not become more clear than that; "multiple incidents" and "prolonged period of time" are common terms and "assault" is defined in jury instruction number 13 (CP 103). The second aggravator required the jury to find Mr. Purser beat on his wife and threatened her while his or her minor children could hear or see what was happening. Again, the language is clear; any rational person could easily determine from the evidence that both children were present during each assault. The third aggravator required the jury to find Mr. Purser either manifested deliberate cruelty or Although "manifested" is clearly a intimidated his wife. lawyer's word for "showed," it is still pretty clear. Even if it is not as clear, the term "intimidate" is.

The terms are not vague, at all, and "offers a sufficiently objective definition for jurors" to determine whether each aggravator applies. *Duncan, id,* at 356. It is simply impossible to believe that jurors would be unable to rationally apply what are essentially common terms to the charges before them. The void for vagueness challenge fails.

ISSUE TWO

When a defendant commits reprehensible crimes against his wife, assaulting her on a continuous basis in front of a child of the couple and threatening to kill the child along with the mother and the child's extended family, and when the trial court advises the defendant that the trial court will review a no contact order on proof the defendant is no longer a threat to the child, can it be said that the record clearly supports the court's entry of a lifetime no contact order without a basis, and without permitting the defendant the opportunity to have the order modified?

RESPONSE

I. Standard of Review: The imposition of crime-related prohibitions is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 36, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision is manifestly unreasonable

or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. State v. Hays, 55 Wn.App. 13, 16, 776 P.2d 718 (1989).

II. Analysis: The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion.

The so-called "life" ban on contact with D.P.Jr. is reasonable under the circumstances reviewed the by trial court.

Mr. Purser was sentenced on October 23, 2012 (10/23/2012 RP 1). On page 33, the Trial Court expressed his reason for the sentence it imposed:

In twenty years on the bench the court has not seen a more sever [sic] act of domestic violence, short of a killing that [could have] occurred in this case. So, when the court looks at the guidelines, the court has a range that the Legislature has given the court. In this case the range is 162 to 216 months and when deciding what part of the range the court's going to impose, the court looks at the circumstances behind the case to determine whether or not this is kind of a minor violation or major violation. As far as the court's concerned this was a major violation of the assault one because of the harm that was done and the way it was inflicted.

(10/23/2012 RP 33). The trial court imposed the top of the range for assault in the first degree (10/23/2012 RP 34).

When the State asked for a lifetime no contact order, the

Trial Court agreed:

Yeah, I'm going to impose that. You know, I want to make it clear though, that will be in effect unless it's otherwise changed by the court. So, Mr. Purser, even though you're done with your time, you've completed [all the programs you stated you would complete in prison], the no contact orders [sic] in effect.

So, it's a lifetime no contact order unless it's changed by the court. So, unless the court makes that change in it, it's gonna be lifetime, so in order for the court to change it, there would have to be [sic] you come into court, Ms. Purser getting notice of that, the court having to deal with whatever the court's gonna do at that point to determine whether or not that's gonna be done or not, okay?

(10/23/2012 RP 34).

A review of the testimony from Ms. Purser shows the trial court was clearly justified in imposing what was termed "a lifetime" no contact order. Mr. Purser's behavior with his family is appalling. He severely injured his wife in front of his children, made all manner of threat to intimidate her, including threats to kill the children. He assaulted her continually, including holding her down on the bed when she was pregnant with D.P.Jr. (8/29/2012 RP 33, 39), threatening to take D.P.Jr.

from her if she called the police on him (8/29/2012 RP 34, 35), threatening to kill Ms. Purser and her entire family (8/29/2012) RP 35), strangling or hitting or threatening or punching her on an almost daily basis in his anger—unable to see that she was not at fault and blaming her for every problem (8/29/2012 RP 36), keeping one child with him to ensure she would not leave or contact the police (8/29/2012 RP 37), beating her up in front of the children when she attempted to leave him, and choking her and busting her tooth (8/29/2012 RP 39). In this particular event, D.P.Jr. was crying and Mr. Purser's response was to blame her and tell her to make the child stop crying (8/29/2012 RP 39). On that occasion, Mr. Purser told her to go to the dentist to get her tooth fixed, then pulled a knife out and said he would kill the kids if she called the police (8/29/2012 RP 41). After the dentist put a brace on her tooth, Mr. Purser knocked it loose less than two weeks later (8/29/2012 RP 44). When she tried to leave him for the second time, he held the children as hostages (8/29/2012 RP 46). When she tried to remove the

older child from the house for school, Mr. Purser attacked the child (8/29/2012 RP 48). He then attacked her, threatening, "I'm going to kill you" (8/29/2012 RP 49). When the older child started crying, it infuriated Mr. Purser; J.P. had to grab the children and place them under her body to stop his attack on them (8/29/2012 RP 50). That is when he beat her so bad he destroyed her spleen (8/29/2012 RP 10, 51). When Mr. Purser saw how badly he was hurting J.P. by blows to the abdomen, he laughed and struck her again and again. D.P.Jr. was so mortified by this behavior his development was slowed to the point Ms. Purser became concerned he was autistic (8/28/2012 RP 111).

If ever a so-called father should be separated from his child, this is it. Mr. Purser's behavior showed a complete lack of empathy for his wife and children. Under the facts of this case, it would not be an abuse of discretion to eliminate all future contact between Mr. Purser and D.P.Jr., because eliminating contact based on this record is the most reasonable

condition to protect D.P.Jr. from danger and from witnessing further violence. One of the saddest aspects of a very sad situation is that both D.P.Jr. and his brother are going to be scarred for life, and the record reflects that D.P.Jr. is going to encounter serious developmental delays. Threatening to kill children as a means to control a spouse is reprehensible. Between his complete lack of empathy and his misguided threats, Mr. Purser presents an extreme danger to all three people listed on the domestic violence no contact order.

The record does not reflect, however, that the no contact order would exist for life, if Mr. Purser actually changed his behavior. To the extent that his contact with Mr. Purser is delayed as long as possible, D.P.Jr. may have some chance to develop into a normal child. But, the Trial Court did not enter an order keeping them apart for life with no possibility that Mr. Purser could convince the Court to modify the no contact order. The order may be modified if Mr. Purser can show in the future he has learned whatever is necessary so that D.P.Jr. is not in

danger. On this record, however, modification of the order at present would endanger D.P.Jr. The very experienced trial court Judge correctly determined that, at this point in time, an order keeping Mr. Purser away from all three victims for life was appropriate, but left the window open for a modification in the future. The Trial Court was well within its authority to enter a modifiable lifetime no contact order.

ISSUE THREE

When the jury hears of two threats to kill, one to J.P. and one later to her son, and is instructed that it must find evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that J.P. was threatened, is the jury properly instructed so that the defendant is not being punished for an act he was not charged with?

RESPONSE

I. Standard of Review: In Washington, a criminal defendant may be convicted by a jury only if the members of the jury unanimously conclude that the defendant committed the criminal act with which he or she was charged. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). A defendant's right to a unanimous verdict is rooted in the Sixth Amendment to the

United States Constitution and in article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Where the evidence indicates that more than one distinct criminal act has been committed, the "jury must be unanimous as to which act or incident constitutes a particular charged count of criminal conduct." State v. Borsheim, 140 Wn.App. 357, 365, 165 P.3d 417 (2007).

II. Analysis: Mr. Purser made two threats on September 23, 2011. The first threat was to kill J.P. and he "would kill the kids and he would kill my mom and my dad or my sister" (8/29/2012 RP 54, 59). The threat to kill J.P. was made while she was in Mr. Purser's presence. The second threat was to kill B.C. (8/29/2012 RP 60). The second threat was made over the telephone when J.P. was attempting to report Mr. Purser (8/29/2012 RP 60). The jury was instructed that it could find Mr. Purser guilty of harassment if it found that on or about September 23, 2011, Mr. Purser threatened to kill J.P. immediately or in the future (Instr. 23, CP 113). The State's

instruction properly elected between the two threats. An election was made; the jury was properly instructed; there is no error. Unlike *State v. Morales*, ____ Wn.App. ____, 298 P.3d 791 (2013), where the State erred when it argued to the jury it could find the defendant guilty under an uncharged theory, the State in this case properly identified a single person as the victim of harassment.

Morales is also important because it defines multiple threats in a harassment scenario as one unit of prosecution. On September 23, 2011, Mr. Purser threatened J.P. on more than one occasion but the State correctly charged him with one count of harassment. It would have disproportionate to charge Mr. Purser with multiple counts of harassment because his behavior over the course of the day never changed.

The same analysis applies to the attempted intimidation.

Because it was one victim and the different threats were made close in time, it would be disproportionate to charge multiple counts of attempted intimidation.

At the same time, the harassment charge and the attempted intimidation charge are different because each had a different victim. Each charge was a separate unit of prosecution because each charge was supported by different evidence.

ISSUE FOUR

When the jury hears two threats made on the same day, where J.P. is threatened in the defendant's presence and the second threat is to kill her son B.C. if she calls the police, is there sufficient difference in law and fact such that the crimes do not either merge or create double jeopardy?

RESPONSE

- I. Standard of Review: Claims of double jeopardy are reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d 765, 770, 108 P.3d 753 (2005).
- II. Analysis: Mr. Purser argued that the harassment and the attempted intimidation are the same act for purposes of double jeopardy. They are not. Each threat occurred at a different time with a different victim for a different purpose.

State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 777, 108 P.3d 753

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